RECEIVED

Jul 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

THOMAS ERIC MCDOWELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000226

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JORDAN WAYBURN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by excluding evidence of third-party guilt where an ex-boyfriend told the investigating detective he had no memory of the night in question and admitted "the possibility existed that he was involved with the abduction" of the victim?
2. Did the trial court err in denying appellant's motion to dismiss based on the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment because the over thirty-five-year delay between the alleged crime and his indictment prejudiced his defense?
3. Were McDowell's rights under the Due Process Clause in article I, section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution violated where the state delayed prosecution of this case for nearly four decades without justification?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 4, 2022—thirty-five years after the alleged crime—the state obtained an arrest warrant for Thomas McDowell, and he was arrested in North Carolina shortly thereafter on January 7, 2022. R. 527:15-24, 528:3-5, 728:16-20. He was indicted by the Lexington County grand jury on June 13, 2022 for murder, kidnapping, and first degree burglary. R. 732.

He went to trial on February 5-8, 2024 before Judge McCaslin and a jury. R. 1. He was represented by Sarah Mauldin and David Mauldin, and Kinli Abee and Heather Weiss represented the state. R. 1. The jury convicted him of all three charges. R. 714:1-8. Judge McCaslin gave him separate life sentences for the burglary and murder; the court did not sentence him for kidnapping due to the murder sentence. R. 730:9-12.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

After midnight on June 6, 1986, someone broke into a trailer home in Lexington County and kidnapped four-year-old Jessica Gutierrez. R. 299:5-20. She was sleeping in a bed with her sister Rebecca, who was six at the time. R. 276:7-16. The next morning Rebecca described to Detective Robert Bartlett of the Lexington County Sheriff's Department what happened. R. 818. Rebecca "stated that she had awoken during the night and seen a black man wearing a magic hat standing over the bed." R. 818. She saw the man "reach down and pick [Jessica] up" and then leave the room. R. 818. At trial, however, Rebecca testified the man that kidnapped Jessica was white and wore a generic hat.¹ R. 281:5-9. Rebecca did not identify McDowell at trial as the person that kidnapped Jessica.²

The state's theory was that the kidnapper broke into the home through a window on the front porch. R. 652:8-654:4. That window was previously broken, and Jessica's mother, Debra Gutierrez, propped it open with a stick for airflow.³ R. 304:21-305:8; State's Ex. 24. The morning after Jessica disappeared, however, the stick was found pulled out, the screen was punched in, and the curtains were pulled down and broken. R. 319:23-320:13, 366:7-13. Debra testified she locked

¹ The state's theory as to the hat was that McDowell wore cowboy hats around the time of the kidnapping. R. 662:13-20, 215:10-12, 465:22-466:7. No hat of any sort was recovered from the crime scene. There was no suggestion the "magic hat" was in fact a cowboy hat until her mother "talked to a psychic," and "the psychic told her that it was a man in a cowboy hat." R. 20:11-13, 88:23-89:1. Rebecca also saw a hypnotist to see if any more information could be recalled. R. 106:1-5. Rebecca testified she could not recall what was said at the hypnotist's. R. 106:4-11.

² Rebecca did identify McDowell in a 2007 photographic line-up. R. 101:12-14, 103:20-105:1. The trial court suppressed that identification after a *Biggers* hearing because of the excessive time that passed, the prior statement the perpetrator was black, Rebecca's testimony describing her opportunity to view the person, and some unclear and confusing statements Rebecca made when describing the line-up process. R. 127:3-128:25.

³ The window was comprised of three panes, each of which opened outward. State's Exhibit 24 is a photograph of the window and is on file with this Court. R. 302:7-303:15.

the front door that night, but it was propped open the next morning. R. 313-21:314:1, 318:22-319:3.

Appellant McDowell had previously dated Debra for about two months at the end of 1985, six months before Jessica's disappearance. R. 868, 882. Prior to Jessica's disappearance, McDowell did some work at the Gutierrez home and installed the front porch awning and a shed. R. 326:10-19, 872. That awning covered the window through which the kidnapper entered. R. 327:12-15; State's Ex. 20. The evidence conflicted on when McDowell performed this work. Debra testified at trial that it was in 1983 or 1984. R. 326:20-327:8. In a statement to the sheriff's department on March 13, 2008, however, she wrote he installed the awning in August of 1985 and that he was last at the house that October. R. 872, 346:21-347:24. In his written statements to law enforcement officers, McDowell twice indicated he did that work in 1985. R. 868, 882.

On the day Jessica went missing Richard Freeman with the Lexington County Sheriff Department recovered a latent fingerprint from that front window.⁴ R. 358:3-359:23, 368:13-17. At trial, James Hickman from the Lexington County Sheriff's Department testified the print belonged to McDowell. R. 394:4-14, 399:2-5, 880. Hickman also agreed there is "no scientific way to date a fingerprint" and could not independently determine when the fingerprint was left. R. 404:8-23. Separately, Michael Fowler testified that he was in jail in Polk County, North Carolina in the mid-1980s at the same time McDowell was there. R. 184:3-11, 188:12-23. Fowler testified McDowell confessed to him about kidnapping and killing a girl in South Carolina. R. 200:21-201:17.

⁴ Debra testified at trial that she frequently cleaned the window where the fingerprint was found. R. 324:3-23.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In general, "[t]he admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *State v. Swafford*, 375 S.C. 637, 640, 654 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001)). Whether a criminal defendant's due process rights have been violated is often a mixed question of law and fact. *See State v. Miller*, 441 S.C. 106, 119, 893 S.E.2d 306, 313 (2023) (voluntariness of a confession); *cf. State v. Samuel*, 422 S.C. 596, 602, 813 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018) (waiver of right to counsel). In those cases, the appellate court will review the trial court's factual findings "for any evidentiary support"; however, "the ultimate legal conclusion . . . is a question of law subject to de novo review." *Miller*, 441 S.C. at 119, 893 S.E.2d at 313.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred by Excluding Evidence of Third-Party Guilt.

Prior to trial the state sought to prevent McDowell from introducing evidence that Debra's ex-boyfriend, Henry Gordon, Jr. committed the alleged crimes. R. 11:6-8. Ultimately the trial court granted its motion reasoning the evidence against Gordon was "merely speculative." R. 160:1-161:21. That ruling prevented McDowell from presenting evidence that Gordon told Detective Bartlett he had no memory of the night in question and admitted "the possibility existed that he was involved with the abduction." R. 825.

The trial court erred by excluding the evidence because it misinterpreted and misapplied *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941). It also impermissibly weighed the strength of the state's evidence rather than the probative value of the proffered evidence as compared to its adverse effects, which violated *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319 (2006).

a. Relevant Facts

Debra and Gordon dated for roughly the year prior to Jessica's disappearance. R. 136:10-21. In that March 13, 2008, written statement to the Lexington County Sheriff's Department, Debra wrote that Gordon moved in with the family in late January or early February of 1986. R. 872, 344:2-345:20. She also wrote that she asked Gordon to move out on June 3, 1986, three days before Jessica disappeared. R. 872. According to Detective Bartlett's notes taken June 6, 1986, Debra ended the relationship on June 2, 1986. R. 815. At trial, Debra and Rebecca denied that Gordon ever lived in the home. R. 344:5-10, 287:5-11.

The most incriminating evidence against Gordon developed on August 27 when Bartlett interviewed Gordon at the sheriff's department after he failed a polygraph. R. 817, 131:9-14. They "discussed that [Gordon] did have a drinking (alcohol) and dope problem, and that it was apparent that when he was intoxicated of doped [sic] up that he developed another personality." R. 824-

825. When intoxicated, Gordon "became violent." R. 825. Gordon admitted "he could remember nothing of incident night" once his friends allegedly left his home after they "drank beer and watched skin flicks." R. 825. Gordon then "indicate[d] that the possibility existed that he was involved with the abduction." R. 825. Gordon "stated that if he had been involved in the incident involving Jessica, that he wanted to know" ⁵ R. 825.

In addition to this self-incriminating statement, Gordon's relationship with Jessica concerned Debra so much that over a month prior to her disappearance Debra took her worries to the police. R. 138:8-139:15. For another example, Debra testified he "started calling Jessica Little Debbie about a week and a half before Jesse was taken," on account of him viewing Jessica as so similar to her mother. R. 141:4-13. Debra saw Gordon whisper in Jessica's ear "frequently," which she described in that early statement to police. ⁶ R. 139:11-140:7. Apparently Gordon whispered to Jessica that "he wanted to take [her] for a ride on [Gordon's] truck," but told her that it was a secret she could not share. R. 140:12-20.

⁵ Bartlett's records also contain this note:

[W]hen Det informed and asked why he had no longer a picture of vic he stated that he did, and was very direct and positive about it, whereas he was not direct or positive about the incident and his possible involvement. He stated that [sic] while he had a picture of vic, at his residence, whereas Det advised him that this picture was not observed on the 19th. Sus stated that he had a picture of vics family that he had hung on the wall, but had taken it down in order to forget vic, He could not give a reason why he wanted to forget vic.

R. 825.

⁶ That written statement was not made a part of the record. However, it is described in the transcript and Debra recognized her handwriting. R. 139:3-15.

On June 6, 1986, Bartlett was on the scene interviewing the family after Jessica was found to be missing. R. 815. He then went to speak with Gordon because Debra thought he might have taken Jessica out of "spite." R. 815. In that conversation Gordon "appeared glassy eyed, and unconcerned about vic." R. 815. Gordon told Bartlett that he had two friends over and they "watched skin flicks and drank beer til [sic] about 2230-2300." R. 816. However, the next day one of those friends (a sixteen-year-old) told Bartlett he in fact did not see Gordon at all on June 5, and the friend's mother asserted he was home that day much earlier than Gordon indicated. R. 822.

Gordon voluntarily spoke with Bartlett and another officer at the Lexington County Sheriff's Department on June 7, 1986. R. 820. In the interview Gordon made extremely possessive statements about Debra, including that when they were dating "sometimes he would check [her] panties by smelling them to see if she had had sex when he was not there."⁷ R. 820. He told them he was still "in love with" Debra and "she was all he needed." R. 820. Just days before Jessica's disappearance Gordon—after Debra ended their relationship—went back over to the house and asked Debra to sleep with him again. R. 816. The two argued because he wanted to have sex and she did not. R. 146:22-147:24. Gordon also could not recall the night following Jessica's disappearance when he went to the Guitierrez's home "very intoxicated." R. 825.

Prior to trial the state moved "to exclude any reference of Henry Gordon . . . as the perpetrator of this crime." R. 11:6-8. The court took the issue under advisement and then heard proffered testimony as part of *Denno* and *Biggers* motions. R. 21:8-11. The court ultimately granted the state's motion to exclude. R. 160:1. It found the evidence was "merely speculative"

⁷ Thirty-five years later Debra testified this did not occur. R. 151:8-13.

and noted there was "no physical evidence tying Mr. Gordon to this scene." R. 160:1-9. It found: "there is no evidence inconsistent with . . . Mr. McDowell's guilt in this case." R. 161:15-17. The court concluded, "I believe what the State's relying on is a fingerprint on a window and I don't know what else, but I'm gonna find that I think it's conjecture and not allow it." R. 161:17-21.

b. The Trial Court Erred Under *State v. Gregory*

In *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941), the Supreme Court adopted a general rule as stated in *Corpus Juris*:

[T]he evidence offered by accused as to the commission of the crime by another person must be limited to such facts as are inconsistent with his own guilt, and to such facts as raise a reasonable inference or presumption as to his own innocence; evidence which can have (no) other effect than to cast a bare suspicion upon another, or to raise a conjectural inference as to the commission of the crime by another, is not admissible.

198 S.C. at 104, 16 S.E.2d at 534 (second alteration original) (quoting 16 *Corpus Juris*, *Criminal Law* § 1085, at 560 (1918)). As originally understood *Gregory* stands for the simple principle that immaterial evidence with little probative value can be excluded for good reasons. *See* Rule 403, SCRE. Had that rule been properly applied, evidence of Gordon's guilt would have been admitted because it is clearly probative, raises a reasonable inference of McDowell's innocence, and has no unfair or improper adverse effects.

i. *Gregory Exists to Keep Confusing and Extraneous Matters from the Jury*

The facts of *Gregory* are important for understanding the proper scope and application of the rule. There, the former treasurer of the Spartanburg Water Works was convicted of embezzlement. 198 S.C. at 102, 16 S.E.2d at 533. At trial the state presented evidence demonstrating a shortage in funds for "so-called 'miscellaneous items' . . . for material and services other than water." 198 S.C. at 104, 16 S.E.2d at 534. It did not seek to prove *Gregory* embezzled money from any other funds. *Id.* *Gregory* sought to introduce evidence "that there was also a

'covered up' shortage of several thousand dollars in the water account of the Spartanburg General Hospital and possibly another shortage in petty cash." *Id.* He intended to demonstrate that someone else stole the money from those second and third funds, but the trial court refused to allow that "unconnected" evidence to be presented. *Id.*

The Court affirmed exclusion finding it "peculiarly appropriate for the exercise of discretion as to admissibility of evidence and to guard against the confusion of the jury by the injection of collateral issues." *Id.* It affirmed the trial court's exclusion "because of the lack of connection above pointed out." *Id.* That makes perfect sense: Gregory sought to introduce evidence that someone else had stolen money from *different funds* than that which he was on trial for embezzling. The state accused him of robbing Fund A; he wanted to prove someone else had robbed Funds B and C. Of course, a trial court can exclude such evidence, especially in a complicated embezzlement case where it *is* likely to confuse the jury. *See Gregory*, 198 S.C. at 105 16 S.E.2d at 534 (explaining exclusion was proper because "[r]emote acts, disconnected *and outside the crime itself*, cannot be separately proved" to exculpate a defendant (quoting 20 Am.Jur. *Evidence* § 265, at 254 (1939) (emphasis added))); Rule 403, SCRE (providing relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of . . . confusion of the issues").

In contrast to the evidence proffered in *Gregory*, McDowell sought to introduce evidence that nearly amounted to a confession to the very crime for which he was being tried. Gordon told Bartlett that he had no memory of June 6 and *could have been involved with the abduction*. That is not the type of evidence of third-party guilt that *Gregory* allows trial courts to exclude. Because Rebecca testified she saw a single man abduct her sister, Gordon's guilt is clearly "inconsistent" with McDowell's guilt. The trial court thus erred in finding "there is no evidence inconsistent with

... McDowell's guilt." R. 161:15-17. Evidence that Gordon committed the crime is evidence inconsistent with McDowell's guilt, and thus the court's findings are not supported by the evidence and its decision to exclude this evidence was an abuse of discretion.

Additionally, the language in *Gregory* about evidence "inconsistent" with the defendant's guilt should not be read too broadly. As used in *Gregory*, the "inconsistent" point was that evidence someone else committed a *different* crime is plainly not inconsistent with the defendant's guilt for the crime charged. For evidence to be inconsistent as a preliminary question before admitting it for the jury to evaluate, no more is required than McDowell presented here.

When Gordon's admission is combined with the other evidence discussed above—a motive after Debra ended the relationship days before; the intoxication and "violent" personality—this is much more than "a bare suspicion" of Gordon's guilt and should have been admitted. It also is not evidence likely to have confused the jury or pointlessly distracted it, as was the case in *Gregory*. Rather, it is exactly the kind of evidence that might give a jury reasonable doubt about McDowell's guilt—evidence that "raise[s] a reasonable inference . . . as to his own innocence." *Gregory*, 198 S.C. at 104, 16 S.E.2d at 534 (quoting *Corpus Juris, supra*, § 1085, at 560).

In cases since *Gregory*, South Carolina courts have properly applied this sparing rule where a defendant offers up little more than the speculative idea that another party could have committed the crime. For example, in *State v. Williams*, 321 S.C. 327, 468 S.E.2d 626 (1996), the bodies of a wife and son were found in a crashed vehicle that had been burnt with gasoline. 321 S.C. at 330, 468 S.E.2d at 628. The husband was charged with their murders. 321 S.C. at 330-31, 468 S.E.2d at 628. The defendant then sought to introduce evidence "that there were marijuana manufacturers in the area where the bodies were found who had subsequently threatened the lives of a confidential informant and a narcotics agent." 321 S.C. at 334, 468 S.E.2d at 630. The trial court properly

excluded this evidence because the defendant "failed to establish that the persons arrested for growing marijuana had *any* connection whatsoever to the homicides." 321 S.C. at 335, 468 S.E.2d at 631. While not evidence of an unrelated crime, like in *Gregory*, it was still proper to exclude that third-party guilt evidence because there was no reason whatsoever beyond wild speculation to believe the marijuana manufacturers had anything to do with the deaths. They just happened to be nearby at some later point in time and committing other crimes. That is the kind of immaterial, extraneous evidence that can be properly excluded under *Gregory*, and it is clearly less probative than the evidence offered by McDowell.

If the evidence presented here does not rise above a mere "conjectural inference," then it seems nothing short of hard, forensic evidence would be sufficient to introduce evidence of a third party's guilt. That is not what the rule was intended to mean. *See Corpus Juris, supra*, at 559 ("Accused may show that another committed the crime, and where the state relies on circumstantial evidence to connect the accused with the crime, he may, by the same character of testimony, prove that others committed it." (footnote omitted)). Yet the trial court appears to have believed such "physical evidence" connecting Gordon to the crime scene was necessary. That basis fundamentally misunderstands *Gregory* and extends it far beyond its more limited premise. Thus, it was error to exclude the proffered evidence.

ii. *Gregory is a Predecessor to Rule 403*

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