RECEIVED

Jul 16 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

THOMAS ERIC MCDOWELL,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000226

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104865

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. S. RICK HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 East Main Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8285

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

One: Another person confessing to a crime could be relevant evidence for the jury’s consideration—but that is not what happened here. The Third Party’s statement that he could have been involved in the disappearance was a metaphysical could, not an admission of guilt. Indeed, the Third Party seemed eager to help, even considering the evidence that Appellant sought to introduce. The Third Party told an investigator “he understood why he was being questioned.” (R. p. 817). When asked if he had something to do with Jessica’s abduction, the Third Party said “he wished he knew who did.” *Id.* Appellant seizes on 14 words from the police report he attached to his motion to dismiss: “Sus did indicate that the possibility existed that he was involved with the abduction [sic].” (R. p. 825). This is hardly a confession; in fact, it is statement of uncontested fact. The possibility existed that any number of individuals could have been involved in Jessica’s disappearance; not all of them could be dragged before the jury as possible suspects.

Two: Despite the trial court’s ruling, the jury did hear about the Third Party. Appellant drew testimony about the Third Party’s living situation from Becky, (R. p. 287, ll. 5–11), and Debra (R. p. 343, l. 24–p. 345, l. 20). In fact, jurors heard Appellant’s counsel intimate that the Third

Party could have been involved; during closing arguments, counsel said that “[t]he dog would have known [the Third Party], the man who had moved out just a few days before, but had lived there since January of the same year.” (R. p. 675, ll. 10–12). Counsel also raised the potential inconsistencies in Debra’s statement about the Third Party, and the fact that the Third Party did not answer his phone during Debra’s alleged call to him the night of Jessica’s disappearance. (R. p. 676, ll. 5–16; R. p. 677, ll. 6–8).

But assume for a moment that the jury had never heard the name of the Third Party. Even so, Appellant cannot satisfy the South Carolina test for admitting evidence of third-party guilt. Evidence of third-party guilt is admissible under *Gregory* and Rule 403, SCRE, when it supports a credible belief that the third party is guilty of the crime; it is inadmissible under Rule 403, SCRE, if it does not.

Appellant and the State agree that the starting point is *State v. Gregory*, 198 S.C. 98, 16 S.E.2d 532 (1941). And the State agrees that what the trial court in *Gregory* excluded was evidence of other crimes by other individuals. But the appellant in *Gregory* argued, not entirely unlike Appellant in this case, that the evidence he was trying to admit raised the inference that someone else had embezzled the money he had embezzled. *See Gregory*, 16 S.E.2d at 534 (“But appellant earnestly contends that this and other rejected testimony *tended to prove another guilty of the commission of the crime with which he was charged* and because the State relied upon circumstantial evidence, it was admissible.” (emphasis added)). The lack of connection between the two crimes was why, in that instance, the evidence was inadmissible—it could just as well have been inadmissible if the other alleged thieves had been charged with the embezzlement for which *Gregory* was being tried. *See* Rule 404(b), SCRE; *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923) (discussing “the familiar and salutary general rule, universally recognized and firmly

established in all English-speaking countries, that evidence of other distinct crimes committed by the accused may not be adduced merely to raise an inference or to corroborate the prosecution's theory of the defendant's guilt of the particular crime charged"). In other words, that evidence was not just inadmissible because it was about other crimes; it was inadmissible because it did not go far enough to demonstrate that those other individuals were credible suspects in the embezzlement for which Gregory was on trial.

Further, the State has no quarrel with Appellant's contention that Rule 403, SCRE, is at least a useful framework for considering *Gregory* issues. See Rule 403, SCRE ("Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence."). That raises the question of how to perform that balancing test in the particular context of a *Gregory* argument. After all, any allegation by an Appellant that someone else committed the crime could be relevant, regardless of how farfetched or speculative it is. But a defendant must provide something tangible to support his allegations, something that credibly indicates a third party has committed the crime. See 29 Am. Jur. 2d *Evidence* § 582 (May 2025 update) ("Evidence of mere motive or opportunity to commit the crime in another person, without more, will not suffice to raise a reasonable doubt about a defendant's guilt: there must be direct or circumstantial evidence linking the third person to the actual perpetration of the crime, and without this link, such evidence is irrelevant and cannot be admitted.").

Here, Appellant's showing about third-party guilt did not amount to enough for the jury to hear those allegations. Appellant essentially showed that the Third Party might have been a jealous boyfriend to Debra Gutierrez; that he might have said some questionable things to Jessica; and that

he acknowledged the existential possibility that he was involved in Jessica's disappearance. If that is enough to stand up to the strictures of Rule 403, it is hard to imagine what would not.

Appellant also argues that the trial court misapplied *Holmes* because it implied that the strength of the State's case made Appellant's case for third-party guilt unreasonable. The trial court did nothing of the sort. *See Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 330, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 1734, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006) ("Just because the prosecution's evidence, *if credited*, would provide strong support for a guilty verdict, it does not follow that evidence of third-party guilt has only a weak logical connection to the central issues in the case.").

When read in context, the trial court's ruling was not based on the notion that because the State's case was so strong, the evidence of third-party guilt could not be introduced. It was based on the realization that the evidence of third-party guilt was so weak that the evidence of the third-party guilt could not be introduced. *See Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 331, 126 S. Ct. at 1735 ("The point is that, by evaluating the strength of only one party's evidence, no logical conclusion can be reached *regarding the strength of contrary evidence offered by the other side* to rebut or cast doubt." (emphasis added)).

The closest thing that Appellant can come up with that might seem at first glance to contradict *Holmes* comes by seizing an individual phrase out of a slightly jumbled paragraph:

I'm just gonna find that there is no evidence inconsistent with -- that's been presented with Mr. McDowell's guilt in this case. I believe what the State's relying on is a fingerprint on a window and I don't know what else, but I'm gonna find that I think it's conjecture and not allow it. I'm gonna exclude it.

Despite the exact wording of the trial court's ruling, it was evident that the trial court was considering the appropriate factors—whether the evidence was conjecture, and for that reason too weak to be useful to the jury.

Because the trial court properly found that Appellant's evidence was insufficient to make it meaningful for the jury's consideration, it was properly excluded. Because counsel was able to insert slices of the issue into the jury's considerations despite that ruling, any prejudice was minimal. This Court should affirm Appellant's convictions.

II. The trial court properly found that the allegations of prejudice from the pre-indictment delay in this case were insufficient to find a due process violation, and that even if they were not, the State's justifications for the delay were sufficient.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in finding that his due process rights were not violated by the time that passed between the alleged crime and his indictment. Appellant is incorrect.

Drawing on federal precedent, our supreme court laid out the test for whether a pre-indictment delay violates the Due Process Clause in *State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 480 S.E.2d 64 (1997). Under that test, the defendant must demonstrate how his ability to defend himself from the charges was prejudiced by the delay. *Id.* at 72, 480 S.E.2d at 68. Then, upon that showing, a trial court must balance that prejudice against the reasons or justifications for the delay in prosecution. *Id.* at 72, 480 S.E.2d at 68–69. Defendant cannot make the first showing, and even if he does, the balance in this case weighs in the State's favor.

The *Brazell* court laid out a test particularly for two of Appellant's contentions here, stating precisely what is required for the unavailability of witnesses to constitute prejudice.

When the claimed prejudice is the unavailability of a witness, courts require that the defendant identify the witness he would have called; demonstrate, with specificity, the expected content of that witness' testimony; establish that he made serious attempts to locate the witness; and finally, show that the information the witness would have provided was not available from other sources.

Brazell, 325 S.C. at 73, 480 S.E.2d at 69.

Appellant’s speculative arguments about the testimony his mother might have provided falls short on at least two fronts. First, Appellant did not specifically show that his mother would have provided an alibi for him. All Appellant has argued is that there is a theoretical possibility that his mother could provide an alibi defense—as trial counsel put it, that “she could potentially even be an alibi witness for him,” but “[w]e don’t know because we can’t talk to her.” (R. p. 55, ll. 14–16) (emphasis added).⁷ In fact, in his brief before this Court, Appellant suggests that even he does not remember whether he needed to pick up his mother at work that night. For similar reasons, Appellant cannot satisfy the requirement that he demonstrate that he could not have found the information elsewhere. He arguably has just as much knowledge of when he picked his mother up from work as she would have.

Similarly, Appellant’s other potential evidence is vague on what it would have shown. Appellant’s trial counsel cross-examined the FBI on precisely the issue of whether their estimates of the size of the window were accurate; having the actual home could just as easily have shown conclusively that those measurements were correct, which would have cut against Appellant. The possibility of getting useful information from the lead investigator is almost pure speculation.

Even if Appellant could somehow show prejudice, he cannot show that the trial court erred in balancing the reasons for the delay against the possibility of prejudice to Appellant. In his brief, Appellant focuses almost exclusively on the discrete pieces of evidence that the State developed in subsequent investigations. Two weeks of focused attention from the FBI was not available to the State until 2021; the benefits of that are considerable. Furthermore, Appellant seems to argue that the State must produce a high-impact investigatory discovery, one that unquestionably

⁷ Trial counsel even speculated—without any elaboration—that Appellant’s mother might have been able to explain why blood was found in a vehicle. (R. p. 55, ll. 22–23).

switched the case from “do not prosecute” to “prosecute.” But that is not how prosecutorial decision-making works. *See United States v. Lovasco*, 431 U.S. 783, 793, 97 S. Ct. 2044, 2050, 52 L. Ed. 2d 752 (1977) (“The determination of when the evidence available to the prosecution is sufficient to obtain a conviction is seldom clear-cut, and reasonable persons often will reach conflicting conclusions.”).

The State demonstrated credible reasons that the further investigations helped provide the confidence necessary to move forward with the prosecution. Balancing those reasons against Appellant’s arguments that his mother might have provided an alibi, that having access to the crime scene might have proven beneficial, and that the former lead detective might have said something that benefited him, there is no due process violation here. This Court should affirm Appellant’s convictions.

III. Appellant has not provided a reason for this Court to create a new test under the South Carolina Constitution for his pre-indictment delays.

Finally, Appellant argues that this Court should find that the South Carolina Constitution’s standards for due process in regard to pre-indictment delays should be set higher than those provided by the United States Constitution. While Appellant is correct that this state’s courts could choose to do so, he does not provide a compelling reason why they should.

As an initial matter, and contrary to Applicant’s, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Appellant does not point to any place in which he argued at the trial court level that South Carolina’s standard should be more accommodating than the federal standard, because he cannot. Our courts’ unwillingness to turn issue preservation issues into a gotcha game does not mean that the game has no rules at all. Rather, as our supreme court recently observed, issue preservation is meant to avoid appeals based on implicit and unspoken assumptions.

One primary purpose of our issue preservation rules is to “give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule.” A trial court's opportunity to rule necessarily includes both parties being aware of the nature of the objection such that they may present their best arguments addressing *that* objection. This then serves another purpose of our rules—“meaningful appellate review.”

State v. Morales, 439 S.C. 600, 609, 889 S.E.2d 551, 556 (2023) (citations omitted) (quoting *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012)).

Invoking South Carolina’s constitutional standard did not implicitly raise the issue of whether that standard should be judged by different guidelines than the federal rule. Instead, by invoking both at the same time, the most logical reading of Appellant’s argument was that because the standard for both is the same, the same facts violated both. Appellant cannot credibly argue that every time a litigant argues on multiple factors or elements, that litigant should be understood to be challenging the applicability of each factor or element under the South Carolina Constitution. Under that construction, every time multiple elements or factors are involved in a legal test, an appellant could launch a free-ranging argument that any one of the elements simply should not apply in South Carolina. That makes legal arguments a guessing game—another kind of game that our preservation rules seek to avoid.

Even here, it is not clear what rule Appellant is asking this court to adopt—or if he has a particular rule in mind at all. He assures this court that the right he seeks is not “expansive”—just that it was certainly violated here. Could the State, under the relief Appellant is seeking, have “changed its mind” (his characterization) in 1996? Or 2008? Or 2014? Without consideration of prejudice, the rule becomes a subjective rumination on how long a delay can last before it has lasted too long.

In *Lovasco*, the United States Supreme Court pointed out the dangers of that kind of unconstrained and subjective review. It could complicate prosecutions with multiple suspects,

incentivize prosecutors more likely to charge borderline cases too soon, and hamper the exercise of prosecutorial discretion. *See Lovasco*, 431 U.S. at 792–795, 97 S. Ct. at 2050–51. The Court warned that:

the Due Process Clause does not permit courts to abort criminal prosecutions simply because they disagree with a prosecutor's judgment as to when to seek an indictment. Judges are not free, in defining “due process,” to impose on law enforcement officials our “personal and private notions” of fairness and to “disregard the limits that bind judges in their judicial function.”

Id. at 783, 790, 97 S. Ct. at 2049 (quoting *Rochin v. California*, 342 U.S. 165, 170, 72 S.Ct. 205, 209, 96 L.Ed. 183 (1952)).

Appellant asks this Court to find a new Constitutional standard following an argument that was not preserved. Instead, this Court should affirm Appellant’s convictions.

CONCLUSION

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